RECEIVED

11-25-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2014AP2238-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

MASTELLA L. JACKSON,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS REVERSING AN ORDER SUPPRESSING EVIDENCE ENTERED IN THE OUTAGAMIE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARK J. MCGINNIS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

JEFFREY J. KASSEL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009170

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-2340 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) kasseljj@doj.state.wi.us

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal by the State of Wisconsin from an order granting in part and denying in part a suppression motion filed by defendant-respondent-petitioner Mastella L. Jackson. The case comes before

the supreme court on Jackson's petition for review of a decision of the court of appeals that reversed that portion of the circuit court's order suppressing the physical evidence obtained during a search of her home.

Facts. Jackson is charged in Outagamie County Circuit Court with first-degree intentional homicide for fatally stabbing her husband, Derrick Whitlow (2:1-5; 32:1). The criminal complaint alleges that on February 21, 2012, officers were dispatched to the Roadstar Inn in Little Chute, where they discovered Whitlow's body in Room 114 (2:2). Whitlow suffered approximately twenty-five stab wounds, some of which appeared to be defensive (2:4). Six of the stab wounds were to his chest, and they caused, among other damage, a severe injury to the aorta and a laceration to the right atrium of the heart (id.).

The police learned from a hotel employee that Whitlow had been staying at the hotel for several days (2:2). Another hotel employee, Angelica Felipe, reported that around 1:00 to 1:30 p.m., a person wearing a hooded sweatshirt knocked on the door of Room 114 and was admitted into the room (*id.*). Felipe then heard a man screaming for help and what appeared to be the sound of someone being hit (*id.*). Hotel staff entered Room 114, found an injured Whitlow, and called the police (*id.*).

One of Whitlow and Jackson's sons, R.L.D.J., told police that his family had been living together at their home but that his father had moved to the Roadstar Inn a few days earlier (*id.*). R.L.D.J. told the

police that during the early afternoon on the day of Whitlow's death, Jackson had become angry at Whitlow because he destroyed some family pictures (2:2-3). Jackson left the house for about fifteen to twenty minutes, R.L.D.J. said, and when she returned she went directly to the shower (2:3). Jackson told R.L.D.J. not to tell anyone that she had left the house that day (*id*.).

Jackson spoke to police officers later that day (*id.*). She told them that she was very upset with Whitlow because he had destroyed a box from the funeral of an aunt who had raised her (*id.*). She told a detective that before going to the hotel, she thought that the pain that Whitlow had caused her was not going to stop and that "it was going to be him or me" (*id.*). She acknowledged that she brought a knife with her when she went to the hotel "to confront him about what had been going on in the relationship" (*id.*).

Jackson said that after Whitlow let her into his hotel room, they began arguing (*id.*). She described to the police how she stabbed Whitlow multiple times (2:3-4). She then drove home, where she put her clothes and the knife in a garbage can (2:4).

The police obtained multiple search warrants during their investigation. As relevant to this appeal, one warrant, issued on February 21, 2012, authorized the search of Jackson's residence, including the garage, for evidence related to the homicide (3:1-2). A second warrant issued that day authorized a search of Jackson's person, clothing, and personal effects and the collection of biological samples (6:1-

2). Three warrants, issued on February 24, March 2, and April 5, 2012, authorized the police to take photographs of Jackson's body using an alternative light source to identify bruising and other injuries (12:1-2; 21:1-2; 29:1-2). Another warrant, issued on March 7, 2012, authorized the police to search Jackson's home for a jacket with the words "NEW YORK" in white or light colored letters (24:1).

The suppression motion. Jackson filed a motion to suppress all of the statements that she made to the police as well as any evidence derived from those statements (45:1; 46:1-2). Jackson asserted that she had not received the necessary *Miranda*¹ warnings and that her statements were involuntary (*id.*). She also argued that physical evidence obtained from her person and her home should be suppressed because the probable cause portion of the search warrant affidavits included information obtained from her illegal interrogation (49:23).

The court conducted a series of hearings on the suppression motion (77:1-249; 78:1-210; 80:1-205; 83:1-239; 85:1-97). Several police officers testified about the investigation, including the interrogation of Jackson and the search of her home (77:18-248; 78:7-204; 80:5-96, 119-56; 83:37-236; 85:4-97). Jackson called a toxicologist and a psychologist who testified about Jackson's state of mind while she was being interviewed by the police, including the effects of medications she was taking (80:98-118, 159-78). The court also viewed a video recording of Jackson's interrogation at the police station and reviewed a

¹Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

transcript of the questioning (64:Exhibits 1, 2; 87:4, 18).

In an oral decision rendered on June 16, 2014, the circuit court found that the interrogation began at 6:24 p.m. and that Jackson was in custody for *Miranda* purposes at 7:25 p.m. (87:18, 22; Pet-Ap. 140, 144). The court suppressed as a violation of *Miranda* the statements Jackson made between 7:25 p.m. and the time the police gave her *Miranda* warnings at 12:39 a.m. (87:36-38; Pet-Ap. 158-60). Based on *Missouri v. Seibert*, 542 U.S. 600 (2004), and other cases, the court also suppressed the statements Jackson made after she was given the *Miranda* warnings (87:39-40; Pet-Ap. 161-62). The court further found that Jackson's statements were involuntary under the totality of the circumstances (87:40-43; Pet-Ap. 162-65).

The court also suppressed the physical evidence found in Jackson's home during the search conducted pursuant to the first warrant (87:45-49; Pet-Ap. 167-71). It held that with Jackson's improperly obtained statements excised from the search warrant affidavit, the remaining facts failed to establish probable cause to support a search warrant for the home (87:45-46; Pet-Ap. 167-68). The court additionally ruled that even if there was probable cause for the warrant, the evidence found during the search would be suppressed because the police brought Jackson to the house after the unlawful interrogation while the search was in progress and she told them where the items of evidentiary value were located (87:46-48; Pet-Ap. 168-70). The court rejected the State's argument that the evidence was

admissible under the inevitable discovery doctrine (87:47-49; Pet-Ap. 169-71).

The court denied the suppression motion with respect to evidence found at the hotel, evidence obtained pursuant to the warrants authorizing a search of Jackson's person, surveillance video from Walmart showing Jackson buying a knife, and a jacket that was found during the second search of her home (87:43-44, 49-50; Pet-Ap. 165-66, 171-72).

In a written order entered on September 8, 2014, the circuit court "grant[ed] in part and denie[d] in part the defendant's motion to suppress" "for the reasons stated on the record at the June 16, 2014, hearing" (62:1). The State then filed a notice of appeal pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 974.05(1)(d) (72:1).

Court of appeals proceedings. The State's appeal challenged only the portion of the circuit court's order that suppressed the physical evidence obtained during the first search of Jackson's home. The State argued that even without Jackson's statements, the untainted evidence described in the search warrant affidavit established probable cause to search Jackson's home. See State's court of appeals brief at 8, 10-15. The State further argued that, assuming that the police erred when they brought Jackson to her home and she told them where to find the items they were searching for, the evidence was admissible under the inevitable discovery doctrine because the officers were in the process of conducting a thorough search of the house pursuant to the search warrant and would have found those

items regardless of whether Jackson had pointed them out. *See id.* at 8, 16-26.

In her court of appeals brief, Jackson did not dispute the State's argument that the untainted evidence in the search warrant affidavit established probable cause to search her home. See Jackson's court of appeals brief at 2-16. Instead, she argued that the requirements of the inevitable discovery doctrine had not been met and that, as a matter of state constitutional law, the inevitable discovery doctrine should not be applied in cases of intentional constitutional violations. See id.

In a published decision, the court of appeals reversed the portion of the circuit court's order suppressing the physical evidence obtained during the search of Jackson's home. *State v. Jackson*, 2015 WI App 49, ¶2, 363 Wis. 2d 554, 866 N.W.2d 768; Pet-Ap. 102. The court first held that the search warrant was valid because "even when Jackson's tainted statements are omitted from the search warrant affidavit, it still contains sufficient untainted evidence to support a finding of probable cause to search Jackson's residence." *Id.*, ¶21; Pet-Ap. 110. The court "agree[d] with the State that the circuit court erred by determining the affidavit did not establish probable cause for the search warrant." *Id.*

Addressing the inevitable discovery doctrine, the court of appeals noted that "[t]o establish that the evidence would have been inevitably discovered, the State must demonstrate, by a preponderance of the evidence, that: (1) there is a reasonable probability the evidence in question would have been

discovered by lawful means but for the police misconduct; (2) the leads making the discovery inevitable were possessed by the government at the time of the misconduct; and (3) prior to the unlawful search the government also was actively pursuing some alternative line of investigation." Id., ¶23; Pet-Ap. 110-11. The court held that the first prong of the doctrine was satisfied because it was "reasonably probable that the knife, clothes, and shoes would have been discovered by lawful means but for the police misconduct." *Id.*, ¶25; Pet-Ap. 111. The court noted that "[p]olice were in the process of lawfully searching the home, pursuant to [the search] warrant, when Jackson told them where to find the items in question." *Id.*; Pet-Ap. 111-12. The court held that "even if Jackson had not provided that information, the officers' testimony at the various suppression hearings demonstrates that police would have ultimately searched the garbage can where the knife, shoes, and clothes were located." *Id.*; Pet-Ap. 112.

Because Jackson did not respond to the State's argument that the second prong of the inevitable discovery doctrine had been satisfied, the court of appeals deemed that issue conceded. *See id.*, ¶35; Pet-Ap. 115.

With respect to the third prong of the doctrine, which is satisfied "when police are conducting a search of the premises pursuant to a lawfully issued warrant at the time of the unlawful activity," the court of appeals held that "[t]hat is precisely what occurred in this case – police were conducting a search of Jackson's residence pursuant to a lawfully

issued warrant when [a detective] relayed tainted information from Jackson about where she had put the knife, clothes, and shoes." Id., ¶36; Pet-Ap. 115-16. The court noted that "the police here were actively pursuing another line of inquiry when they received the tainted information from Jackson about the location of the knife, clothes, and shoes—namely, they were conducting a thorough and methodical search of her residence pursuant to a valid warrant." Id. at ¶39; Pet-Ap. 116-17. It concluded that "the clothes, and shoes would knife, have been discovered due to the thorough and methodical nature of the search, to which the officers testified, and the fact that police planned to search the garage when they finished searching the house itself." *Id*.

The court of appeals rejected Jackson's argument that even if all three inevitable discovery prongs were satisfied, the doctrine should not be applied in cases of intentional constitutional violations. The court distinguished this case from the case on which Jackson relied, State v. Knapp, 2005 WI 127, 285 Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899, in which the supreme court had held that "[w]here physical evidence is obtained as the direct result of an intentional Miranda violation," the evidence must be suppressed. Jackson, 363 Wis. 2d 554, ¶43 (quoting *Knapp*, 285 Wis. 2d 86, ¶2); Pet-Ap. 118-19. The court of appeals noted that in *Knapp*, the physical evidence was obtained as the direct result of an intentional Miranda violation and there was no evidence the police would have obtained the physical evidence had the Miranda violation not occurred. Id., ¶45; Pet-Ap. 119. But in this case, the court said, "we have already determined that the knife, clothes, and shoes

would have been inevitably discovered by lawful means, notwithstanding the police misconduct. Under these circumstances, the twin policy goals identified in *Knapp* are not served by suppression and are in fact outweighed by the detrimental effect of excluding important physical evidence." *Id.*; Pet-Ap. 119-20.

ARGUMENT

Jackson argues that the physical evidence that the police discovered during the search of her home is not admissible under the inevitable discovery doctrine. She advances arguments under the doctrine as it is currently formulated and also asks this court to add a new limitation on the doctrine as a matter of state constitutional law: that the doctrine should not be applied when the police have intentionally violated a suspect's constitutional rights.

This court should conclude that the court of appeals correctly determined that the well-established requirements of the inevitable discovery doctrine have been met in this case. And it should reject Jackson's request to restrict the doctrine under the Wisconsin Constitution because her proposed limitation is not necessary to further the purposes of the exclusionary rule, "would put the police in a worse position than they would have been in if no unlawful conduct had transpired" and "wholly fails to take into account the enormous societal cost of excluding truth in the search for truth in the administration of justice." *Nix v. Williams*, 467 U.S. 431, 445 (1984).

I. THE EVIDENCE FOUND IN JACKSON'S HOME IS ADMISSIBLE UNDER THE INEVITABLE DISCOVERY DOCTRINE.

After obtaining a search warrant, the police began to search Jackson's home around 12:50 a.m. (83:87). They were still conducting the search about an hour and twenty-five minutes later when a detective brought Jackson to the house (83:95-96). That detective, relying on information from Jackson, directed the searchers to a garbage can that they had not yet examined (83:97). The police found a duffel bag in that garbage can that contained a Winchester knife, bloody shoes, and bloody clothing (5:2-4; 83:99).

For purposes of this brief, the State will assume, based on the circuit court's finding that Jackson's statements to the police were obtained in violation of *Miranda* and were involuntary, that the police improperly relied on information obtained from Jackson to locate those items. For the reasons that follow, however, those items are nevertheless admissible under the inevitable discovery doctrine.

A. Applicable legal principles and standard of review.

The inevitable discovery doctrine provides that "evidence obtained during a search which is tainted by some illegal act may be admissible if the tainted evidence would have been inevitably discovered by lawful means." *State v. Lopez*, 207 Wis. 2d 413, 427, 559 N.W.2d 264 (Ct. App. 1996). To

establish that the evidence would have been inevitably discovered, the State must demonstrate by the preponderance of the evidence: 1) that there is a reasonable probability that the evidence in question would have been discovered by lawful means but for the police misconduct, 2) that the leads making the discovery inevitable were possessed by the government at the time of the misconduct, and 3) that prior to the unlawful search the government was also actively pursuing some alternative line of investigation. *Id.* at 427-28; *see also State v. Avery*, 2011 WI App 124, ¶29, 337 Wis. 2d 351, 804 N.W.2d 216.

The applicability of the inevitable discovery doctrine presents a constitutional question that an appellate court reviews de novo. *See Avery*, 337 Wis. 2d 351, ¶29.

B. There is a reasonable probability that the police would have discovered the evidence by lawful means.

The first prong of the inquiry requires the State to show that there is a reasonable probability that the evidence in question would have been discovered by lawful means but for the police misconduct. *See Lopez*, 207 Wis. 2d at 427-28. The record in this case shows that the State easily has met that requirement.

The police were in the process of lawfully searching Jackson's home – they had a valid warrant – when a detective gave the searchers information obtained from Jackson about where specifically they

should look to find the knife, bloody clothing, and bloody shoes.² At least six or seven officers were involved in the search (83:83). They divided the house into sections, with different groups of officers responsible for searching certain areas (*id.*). When the search began, one group searched the basement, while the other group searched the upstairs portion of the house (83:85).

The search process was very thorough. For example, in one bedroom that had a large closet, there was a large number of very large garbage bags, and the officers conducted a time-consuming examination of each of those bags that entailed dumping out the contents and sifting through all of the items in each bag (83:83-85).

After receiving a call from Detective Brad Kuehl suggesting that they check a garbage can near the garage door, the officers who had been searching the basement searched the two garbage cans that were closest to the garage door, but found nothing (83:91-92). Those officers then resumed searching the basement (83:91-92).

Detective Scott Callaway testified that the officers planned to conduct an "[e]xtremely thorough" search of the house and garage (83:92). That search would have entailed methodically

² The court of appeals held that the search warrant was valid because the warrant affidavit established probable cause independent of Jackson's tainted statements. *See Jackson*, 363 Wis. 2d 554, ¶¶17-21; Pet-Ap. 107-10. Jackson did not challenge that proposition in the court of appeals and has not challenged it in this court.

dumping out garbage bags and going through boxes, drawers, and kitchen and bathroom cabinets (83:92-93). Detective Callaway testified that he told the other officers that it was going to take a long time to search the garage because of all of the bins and boxes there (83:94).

According to Detective Callaway, when Detective Kuehl arrived at the house with Jackson, his group either had just finished or were about to finish searching the basement and the other group was still searching the upstairs (83:96). The only search of the garage to that point was the earlier search of the two garbage cans near the garage door (83:96-97).

Detective Michael Renkas testified that because this was a homicide investigation, "[i]t was a very serious matter, so we were going to be very thorough. We were going to search everywhere and anywhere that we could search looking for relevant items that could be related to the incident and searching anywhere that the search warrant would allow us to search" (83:211).

Detective Renkas testified that he and three other officers began their search in the master bedroom (83:211). He also searched a closet area in the basement that contained several garbage bags and that they searched each of those bags (83:212).

While he was searching the basement, Renkas testified, the searchers received the information that a knife and clothing would be found in a garbage container near the garage door (83:212). After

participating in the unsuccessful search of that garbage can and of a garbage bin outside the house, he resumed searching the basement (83:212-13). He did that "to keep everything systematic and as thorough as possible to make sure that we were doing a complete search of the residence" (83:213).

Detective Renkas testified that it was the searchers' plan to search other areas of the garage because "[t]he search of the garage would have been just starting" as a result of the earlier diversion to search the two garbage containers (*id.*). Before Detective Kuehl arrived at the house, Renkas testified, there had been no search of the garage other than those two containers (83:215).

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