RECEIVED

11-09-2015

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2014AP002238-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

MASTELLA L. JACKSON,

Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District III, Reversing in Part an Order Entered in Outagamie County, the Honorable Mark J. McGinnis, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

ANDREW R. HINKEL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 105818

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1779 hinkela@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent-Petitioner

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The Physical Evidence in This Case Was The Product of Statements Made by Ms. Jackson During Her Unlawful Interrogation, And the Inevitable Discovery Doctrine Does Not Render Them Admissible.
 - A. Standard of review and burden of proof.

It is the state's burden to show each element of inevitable discovery by a preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Schwegler*, 170 Wis. 2d 487, 500, 490 N.W.2d 292 (Ct. App. 1992). In reviewing constitutional questions, this court defers to the trial court's findings of historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous, but independently applies the legal standard to the facts as found. *See State v. Marquardt*, 2001 WI App 219, ¶9, 247 Wis. 2d 765, 635 N.W.2d 188.

B. Ms. Jackson's statements were obtained in violation of *Miranda* and were also involuntary, requiring the suppression of any physical evidence derived from them.

As the circuit court found and the state concedes, the police subjected Ms. Jackson to custodial interrogation for more than five hours before informing her of her *Miranda* rights. The state further does not dispute the court's finding that this violation was intentional, and that the statements Ms. Jackson ultimately made were compelled in violation of her Fifth Amendment rights. Appellant's Brief at 7; Reply Brief at 8-9.

These concessions are apt. As the circuit court noted, the officers persisted in questioning Ms. Jackson despite her repeated requests to leave and to stop talking, and in spite of her obvious mental distress and physical pain. The court was amply justified in rejecting the officers' testimony that Ms. Jackson was free to go and in concluding that they had intentionally violated *Miranda*. (87:24, 29-30; App. 146, 151-52).

Also not in dispute is the fact that Ms. Jackson's involuntary statements brought about the discovery of the physical evidence at issue. As one of the officers testified, Ms. Jackson was eventually brought to her house, where she pointed out the location of the items to the police. (78:197, 200-01).

Finally, Ms. Jackson has not appealed the partial denial of her suppression motion; the evidence that the court deemed not obtained by way of her interrogation may still be used against her. (87:49-50; App. 171-73).

As for the evidence that was the fruit of Ms. Jackson's interrogation, it is inadmissible for two independent reasons. First, the Wisconsin Constitution provides for suppression of physical evidence derived from intentional *Miranda* violations. *State v. Knapp*, 2005 WI 127, ¶2, 285 Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899. Second, the Federal Constitution requires exclusion of all evidence derived from compelled statements. Chavez v. Martinez, 538 U.S. 760, 769 (2003). Thus the state may not use the physical evidence here at issue unless it can prove that Ms. Jackson's statements did not serve as an "investigatory lead" toward its discovery—that it was "derived from a legitimate source wholly independent of" the statements. *Id.*, 769-770 (noting that protection of involuntary statements is "coextensive with the use and derivative use immunity mandated by" Kastigar v. United States, 406 U.S. 441 (1972)); *Kastigar*, 406 U.S. at 460 (barring use of compelled statement as "investigatory lead" and requiring prosecution prove that any offered evidence is "derived from a legitimate source wholly independent of the compelled testimony").

C. The state did not meet its burden to show inevitable discovery because it failed to show that the evidence would have been discovered "but for" the illegal interrogation.

The state seeks to avoid exclusion, however, by arguing that the evidence would have been found absent the violations by the execution of the search warrant. This inevitable discovery exception to the exclusionary rule requires the state to show, by a preponderance of the evidence, three things: first, that "the evidence in question would have been discovered by lawful means but for the

police misconduct";² second, "that the leads making the discovery inevitable were possessed by the government at the time of the misconduct"; and third, that the police "prior to the misconduct were actively pursuing the alternate line of investigation." *United States v. Cherry*, 759 F.2d 1196, 1204 (5th Cir. 1985); *see also Schwegler*, 170 Wis. 2d at 500.

The first element of the doctrine requires the state to show that the evidence would have been discovered by lawful means (here the warranted search) "but for" the illegal conduct (the interrogation). Below, the state argued, and the court of appeals agreed, that this prong was met because the warrant application showed probable cause even absent the

² This first prong is often phrased as requiring only that the government show a "reasonable probability that the evidence in question would have been discovered but for the misconduct." See, e.g., Cherry, 759 F.2d at 1204. This may simply be shorthand for the *Nix* statement that the state must carry the burden to show inevitable discovery by a preponderance of the evidence, 467 U.S. at 444, but it should not be taken to suggest that the state must simply show some likelihood that events would have led to the discovery of the evidence absent police wrongdoing. This would be inconsistent with the discussion in Nix itself, which stated that the doctrine "involves no speculative elements but focuses on demonstrated historical facts capable of ready verification" *Id.* n.5., and with the very notion of inevitability expressed by the phrase "inevitable discovery." See United States v. Heath, 455 F.3d 52, 59 n.6 (2d Cir. 2006) (Noting the "semantic puzzle" of "using the preponderance of the evidence standard to prove inevitability"; concluding that it was sufficient to "note the difference between proving by a preponderance of the evidence that something would have happened and proving by a preponderance of the evidence that something would inevitably have happened."); 6 WAYNE R. LAFAVE, SEARCH AND SEIZURE: A TREATISE ON THE FOURTH AMENDMENT § 11.4(a) at 359 (5th ed. 2012) ("A majority of the courts that have utilized the exception have tended to define the necessary probability in terms of 'would,' which is the constitutional standard.").

illegally-obtained statements. Appellant's Brief at 8-15; *Jackson*, No. 2014AP2238-CR, ¶34; (App. 115). Possessing such evidence, the argument goes, it was impossible that the police would not seek a search warrant for her house. *Jackson*, 2015 WL 2192984, ¶34; (App. 115). But the burden to show the elements of inevitable discovery is on the state and, as will be seen, the officer who applied for the warrants did not give any testimony about how or when the decision to seek a warrant was made. Moreover, none of the non-tainted information available to the police informed them that the physical evidence sought was located inside the house; that information came from Ms. Jackson's illegal interrogation. (3:2-4; 78:197,200-01; App. 177-79).

The state also argued, and the court agreed, that it was not required to show that Ms. Jackson's compelled statements did not lead the police to obtain the warrant in the first place; simple probable cause for a warrant was enough to apply the doctrine. Reply Brief at 4; *Jackson*, No. 2014AP2238-CR, ¶34; (App. 115).

This view is error. If Ms. Jackson's incriminating statements influenced the decision to seek a warrant, it cannot be said that the evidence would have been uncovered "but for" the illegality—as without the illegality, there would have been no search. See United States v. Madrid, 152 F.3d 1034, 1041 (8th Cir. 1998) ("Whatever balance is to be achieved by the inevitable discovery doctrine, it cannot be that police officers may violate constitutional rights the moment they have probable cause to obtain a search warrant."); United States v. Brown, 64 F.3d 1083, 1085 (7th Cir. 1995) ("what makes a discovery 'inevitable' is not probable cause alone ... but probable cause plus a chain of events that would have led to a warrant (or another justification) independent of the [illegality]"); see also Murray v. United States,

487 U.S. 533, 539, 543 (1988) (independent source doctrine, from which inevitable discovery doctrine is extrapolated, requires a showing that police "would have sought" warrant absent illegal act).

Where, as here, police obtain information through constitutional violations, further investigation using that information is also tainted, and cannot be the "lawful means" justifying the application of the inevitable discovery doctrine. If the illegal interrogation instead *led to* the putatively lawful search, that search is itself a fruit of the illegality and cannot purge it. To hold otherwise would be to negate the fruit of the poisonous tree doctrine. United States 955 F.2d 207, 211 (4th Cir. 1992) ("the fact making discovery inevitable must arise from circumstances other than those disclosed by the illegal search itself. That test is necessary to prevent the inevitable discovery exception from swallowing the exclusionary rule.") To use the physical evidence here, the state was required to show that the information gleaned by its illegal conduct did not, in fact, help bring about the "lawful" search of Ms. Jackson's home.

It did not so show. The testimony at the hearings establishes that the officer preparing the warrant application was in communication with the interrogating officers, and the affidavit itself contained statements taken from the unlawful interrogation. The state, which bears the burden of proof, introduced *no* evidence to show that despite these connections, the decision to seek a warrant was not influenced by the confession that the officers had extracted from Ms. Jackson.

Officer Renkas, who signed the warrant application and testified that he had prepared it (4:4; 80:87), was unable to recall when the decision was made to seek a warrant. At

one hearing, he testified that while he could not recall exactly when he began the warrants, it "could have been between 6:00 or so." (80:87). When asked about this at a later hearing, he backpedaled:

- Q. When did you start working on the warrants?
- A. I don't recall the exact time. I know I responded back to the police department at approximately 5:20 p.m. It would have been sometime after that and between the period that, responding back to the police department, receiving this information, as it was being provided to me throughout the night until the search warrant was signed.
- Q. So pretty much as soon as or shortly after you got back to the police department and started working on gathering information for the warrant; is that correct?
- A. Whenever there was enough information provided and the decision, however the decision was made to begin the search warrants where we were actually going to be conducting the search warrants to get into the ... like I said, I can't recall the exact time that they were, that they began.
- Q. Hours later?
- A. I don't recall.
- Q. You had previously testified you started working on them approximately at 6:00.
- A. I know. I responded back at approximately 5:20 and a period of time. I know last time previously I responded I didn't exactly recall and gave an approximate time of 6:00.

- Q. And that's still your approximate?
- A. It could be an approximate time, yes, but the exact time, I'm unsure.

(85:6-8).

As noted above, the violation of Ms. Jackson's *Miranda* rights commenced at 7:25, and the warrant was not signed until 11:32. (87:22; App. 144; 80:86-87). Given Officer Renkas' testimony, it is impossible to determine whether the information that was being extracted from Ms. Jackson was part of the "information" he referred to as leading to the "decision ... to begin the search warrants": a decision which he did not deny may have come "hours later" than his 5:20 return to the police station. (85:6-8).

By failing to demonstrate that the search warrants would have been sought independently of the constitutional violation, the state has failed to meet its burden on the first prong of the inevitable discovery test: to show that the warranted search would have occurred "but for" the illegal interrogation of Ms. Jackson. *Cherry*, 759 F.2d at 1204.

D. The state failed to prove that the police were actively pursuing an alternate line of investigation leading to the evidence prior to the unlawful interrogation.

For related reasons, the state also failed to meet its burden on the third prong of the inevitable discovery test: a showing that the police were actively pursuing some alternate line of investigation prior to their unlawful conduct. In the court of appeals, the state posited that the warranted search of Ms. Jackson's house provided this alternate line. Appellant's Brief at 25-26. But as discussed above, the violation of Ms. Jackson's rights commenced four hours before the

warrant was signed, so the search was clearly not being pursued prior to the illegal interrogation. Indeed, the officer who prepared the warrant application could not even place the decision to seek the warrant before or after the unlawful interrogation began.

Nevertheless, the state argued and the court of appeals held that the alternative line of investigation (again, the warranted search) needed only to have commenced before the "unlawful search." Reply Brief at 7; *Jackson*, 2015 WL 2192984, ¶41; (App. 118). In the court's view, the search of the house only became unlawful when Ms. Jackson was brought to the scene to point out the evidence, after the search of the house was being actively pursued. *Id*.

This reasoning is, again, faulty. The "unlawful search" language comes from *State v. Avery*, 2011 WI App 124, ¶29, 337 Wis. 2d 351, 804 N.W.2d 216, which ultimately owes it to State v. Schwegler, 170 Wis. 2d 487, 500, 490 N.W.2d 292, 297 (Ct. App. 1992). *Schwegler* was, in fact, about an unlawful search, which is why it uses this specific language. The case that it relies on, *United States v. Cherry*, 759 F.2d 1196, 1204 (5th Cir. 1985), was about an unlawful interrogation and uses the broader "prior to the misconduct." Here, the misconduct at issue was the unlawful interrogation, which commenced hours before the search of the house even began. To insist that active pursuit must precede only an "unlawful search" is to miss the point of the third prong of the inevitable discovery doctrine: it seeks to guarantee that the investigation making the discovery "inevitable" is not itself the fruit of the primary illegality. Here, because the search did not precede the illegal interrogation, there is no such guarantee.

The state and the court of appeals' reliance on *State v. Lopez* is thus misplaced. In that case, officers were conducting a warranted search of the defendant's residence when they encountered a locked freezer. 207 Wis. 2d 413, 427, 559 N.W.2d 264 (Ct. App. 1996). An officer then asked the defendant, who was in custody and present at the residence, where the key was located, and the defendant told him. *Id.* at 428. The court concluded that the drugs in the freezer would inevitably have been found because the officer "had already located and decided to search the freezer" when he asked about the key, and thus "was actively pursuing his decision to search the freezer" when the violation occurred. *Id.* Further, the court noted, the officer testified that if he had not found the key, he would have pried the freezer open. *Id.*

Lopez, like the seminal inevitable discovery case of *Nix v. Williams*, 467 U.S. 431 (1984), cuts in favor of Ms. Jackson. In *Lopez*, the opening of the freezer would have occurred whether or not the officer had violated *Miranda* by asking about the key. We know this because the plan to search the freezer was already in progress – that is, the police were "actively pursuing [the] alternate line of investigation" – when the violation occurred. *Lopez*, 207 Wis. 2d at 427-28. Similarly, in *Nix*, the famous "Christian burial speech" that violated Miranda came while a massive and systematic search of the area where the victim's body was located was already underway. Nix, 467 U.S. 435-36. Here, by contrast, the police commenced their hours-long violation of Ms. Jackson's Miranda rights four hours before the search warrant was even issued and six or seven hours before she finally pointed out the sought-after evidence. The inevitable discovery doctrine articulated in Nix and Lopez is not a means for the police to launder such ill-gotten evidence by ignoring the causal chain from violation to recovery.

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